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L INTRODUCTION

Lacking any basis in fact or law, defendants' motion to strike the complaint filed by the
Washington State Investment Board and Employer-Teamsters Local Nos. 175 & 505 Pension Trust
Fund ("Washington Complaint") should be denied. In therr motion the only issue in dispute was,
according to defendants, whether the Washington Complaint was "unauthorized, untimely, and
inconsistent with this Court's Orders." Motion to Strike at 7. However, after defendants filed their
motion, this Court denied another motion to strike filed by defendants on virtually identical grounds.
Left with moot or otherwise meritless arguments, in their Reply, defendants now argue that "the
Sarbanes-Oxley Act does not expand the statute of limitations for claims under §§11 and 15 of the
1933 Act; it is limited to claims asserted in fraud." See Certain Defendants' Reply at 1-9. In
addition, defendants argue that "[t]he Sarbanes-Oxley Act is not retroactive." [Id. at 10-11.
Defendants' new legal theories are not properly raised, not a basis for a motion to strike, and, in any
event, neither of defendants' assertions has merit.
II. ARGUMENT

A. Defendants May Not Raise New Legal Theories in Their Reply

Defendants unnecessarilycomplicate these proceedings by raising new legal theories in their
Reply. Courts frequently refuse to consider arguments raised for the first time in a reply brief. See,
e.g., United States v. Wright, 215 F.3d 1020, 1030 n.3 (9th Cir. 2000) ("[Defendant] also raised a
new argument for the first time in his reply brief ... Because this argument was not raised
previously, we decline to consider it."); United States v. Kenneth C., No. 01-50235, 2002 U.S. App.
LEXIS 27246, at *5 (9th Cir. Dec. 30, 2002); Goldv. Wolpert, 876 F.2d 1327, 1331 (7th Cir. 1989)
("It is well-settled that new arguments cannot be made for the first time in reply."); Shiay v.
Montgomery, 802 F.2d 918, 922 n.2 (7th Cir. 1986). Indeed, defendants have raised new legal
theories that are not a proper basis for a motion to strike in the first place. Defendants' new

arguments should be rejected for being improperly raised, among other reasons.



B. Defendants' Purported Statute of Limitations Defense Is Not a Basis
for a Motion to Strike

A purported statute of limitations defense is not a proper basis for a motion to strike pursuant
to Fed. R. Civ. P. 12. The Bank Defendants recognize this. They request that if "the Court needs
to determine the applicability of the Sarbanes- Oxley Act in order to adjudicate the pending motion
[to strike]" the Court should "defer ruling on the motion [to strike] until all parties have had the
opportunity to fully brief the issue, in the context of their motions to dismiss." See Supplemental
Response by Bank Defendants to Plaintiffs' Opposition to Certain Defendants' Motion to Strike the
Washington State Investment Board Class Action Complaint at 2. The Moving Defendants
recognize this too, but they nonetheless raise their arguments. Certain Defendants’ Reply at 2-3
("Defendants reserve the right to fully brief the statute of limitations issue and other grounds relating
to the Plaintiffs' claims in a Motion to Dismiss, to be filed as contemplated by the Court's August 7,
2002 Order (H-01-3624, Instrument #983).").

Rule 12(f) provides that the Court may order stricken from any pleading "any insufficient
defense or any redundant, immaterial, impertinent, or scandalous matter." But a motion to strike is
not the procedure for raising a purported statute of limitations defense. Thus, the issue of whether
the statute of limitations prescribed by Sarbanes-Oxley applies to the Washington Complaint should
not be decided in a motion to strike and the instant motion should be denied.

C. Defendants’' Arguments Interpreting the Sarbanes-Oxley Act
Nonetheless Fail

Defendants' statute of limitations defense is not only improperly raised, it lacks merit too.
Defendants claim that "the Sarbanes-Oxley Act does not expand the statute of limitations for claims
under §§11 and 15 of the 1933 Act; it is limited to claims asserted in fraud." See Certain Defendants’
Reply at 1-9. In addition, defendants claim that "[t]he Sarbanes-Oxley Act is not retroactive," i.e.,
the longer statute of limitations does not apply to victims of the Enron fraud. Id. at 10-11.

Defendants are wrong.



1. The Text of Sarbanes-Oxley Clearly and Unambiguously
Lengthens the Statute of Limitations Applicable to the Claims
in the Washington Complaint

Any question of statutory interpretation begins with an examination of the text of the statute
to determine whether its meaning is clear. See Cmty. for Creative Non-Violence v. Reid, 490 U.S.
730, 739 (1989); United States v. Ron Pair Enters., 489 U.S. 235, 241 (1989) (holding that when a
statute's language is plain, "the inquiry should end"); Kelly v. Boeing Petroleum Servs., 61 F.3d 350,
362 (5th Cir. 1995) (stating that if the statutory language is plain and unambiguous, it must be given
effect).

a. Sarbanes-Oxley Clearly and Unambiguously Applies to
Claims Under §3(a)(47), Which Includes §11 Claims
Such as Those Brought Here

Here, the text of the statute at issue is plain and unambiguous and its meaning is clear.
Section 804 of Sarbanes-Oxley amends 28 U.S.C. §1658 by extending the statute of limitations for
all private securities claims to two years from the discovery of facts constituting the violation, rather
than one year, and to five years from the violation, rather than three years. Indeed, the pertinent
portion of 28 U.S.C. §1658 now provides:

[A] private right of action that involves a claim of fraud, deceit, manipulation, or

contrivance in contravention of a regulatory requirement concerning the securities

laws, as defined in section 3(a)(47) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 (15

U.S.C. 78¢c(a)(47)), may be brought not later than the earlier of —

(1) 2 years after the discovery of the facts constituting the violation; or
(2) 5 years after such violation.

On its face, the application of 28 U.S.C. §1658 is not limited to fraud claims, as defendants
contend. See Certain Defendants Reply at 1-9. The amended 28 U.S.C. §1658 specifically
references non-fraud 1933 Act claims under §3(a)(47). See §3(a)(47) of the Securities Exchange Act
0f 1934 (15 U.S.C. §78¢c(a)(47)) ("The term 'securities laws’ means the Securities Act of 1933 (15
U.S.C. §77a et seq.)") (emphasis added). Thus, by its own terms, the Sarbanes-Oxley statute of
limitations clearly applies to all private securities claims, including those for violations of the 1933
Act.

Moreover, by its own terms, §804 of Sarbanes-Oxley clearly mandates that it applies to all

private securities claims despite the fact that 1933 Act claims previously had their own limitations



period. Again, this is obvious on the face of the statute. Had Congress sought to exclude 1933 Act
claims from the reach of Sarbanes-Oxley, it would have done so by omitting this reference to 1933
Act claims in the express language of §804. However, in §804 of Sarbanes-Oxley, Congress
explicitly refers to "the securities laws, as defined in section 3(a)(47)." And §3(a)(47) specifically
states that "[tJhe term 'securities laws' means the Securities Act of 1933." 15 U.S.C. §78c(a)(47).
Thus, Congress clearly intended for the new Sarbanes-Oxley statute of limitations to apply to 1933
Act claims. Accordingly, defendants' contention that the amended 28 U.S.C. §1658 applies only to
claims under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 is wrong.

The thoughtful analysis of a similar question of statutory interpretation provided by the
United States Bankruptcy Court for the Southern District of New York is particularly instructive.
In/nre Gibbons, 289 B.R. 588, 2003 Bankr. LEXIS 161, at *9-*10 (Bankr. S.D.N.Y. Mar. 7, 2003),
the court discussed the application of §803 of Sarbanes-Oxley, titled "Debts nondischargeable if
incurred in violation of securities fraud laws." See Pub. L. No. 107-204, §803. The court stated that
§803 added subsection (19) to the exceptions to discharge enumerated in §523(a) of the Bankruptcy
Code and provides, in pertinent part, "that a discharge in a Chapter 7 case (among others) does not
discharge an individual debtor from a debt ... 'that (A) is for — (i) the violation of any of the Federal
securities laws (as that term is defined in section 3(a)(47) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934)."
1d. at *9. The court then explained that "Section 523(a)(19) incorporates by reference §3(a)(47) of
the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, which defines 'securities laws' to mean the Securities Act of
1933." Id. at *10 n.6. Accordingly, the court held that "[t]he section, by its terms, applies to both
statutory claims under the securities laws and common law fraud, so long as it arises in connection
with the purchase or sale of a security." Id. at ¥9-*10.

Similarly, here, §804 of Sarbanes-Oxley expressly refers to §3(a)(47) of the Securities
Exchange Act of 1934, which defines "securities laws" to mean the Securities Act of 1933. Thus,
§804 of Sarbanes-Oxley means exactly what it says, that it applies to all claims brought under the
"securities laws," including those brought under the Securities Act of 1933.

In their Reply, defendants assert that because other sections of Sarbanes-Oxley within Title

VIII of Sarbanes-Oxley reference scienter, that §804 only applies to causes of action which require
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scienter. Certain Defendants' Reply at 8-9. This argument is entirely meritless because defendants
would have the Court compare apples to oranges. The other sections of Sarbanes-Oxley defendants
reference (§§802, 805, and 807) are all criminal provisions. Of course these criminal statutes all
have intent requirements. In contrast, §804 clearly applies only to private rights of action and
contains no reference to scienter. Therefore, §804 applies to all private civil actions available under
the securities laws.

b. Sarbanes-Oxley Clearly and Unambiguously Applies to
the Washington Complaint

Subsection (b) of §804, entitled "EFFECTIVE DATE" explicitly and unambiguously
provides that "[t]he limitations period provided by section 1658(b) of title 28, United States Code,
as added by this section, shall apply to all proceedings addressed by this section that are
commenced on or after the date of enactment of this Act." (Emphasis added.) Subsection (b) does
not in any way limit the applicability of Sarbanes-Oxley to actions that would be within the prior,
shorter statute of limitations, as defendants contend. It simply states that Sarbanes-Oxley applies to
all proceedings commenced on or after the date of enactment of Sarbanes-Oxley.!

Here, the Washington Complaint was filed on September 9, 2002, roughly five weeks after
the enactment of Sarbanes-Oxley. Accordingly, because the Washington Complaint was filed after
the enactment of Sarbanes-Oxley, the new longer two year/five year statute of limitations applies to
the Washington Complaint.

The only cases to have addressed the issue have held that Sarbanes-Oxley means exactly what
it says, that the new longer statute of limitations applies to all proceedings that are commenced on
or after the date of enactment of Sarbanes-Oxley. In Roberts v. Dean Witter Reynolds, Inc.,

No. 8:02-CV-2115, 2003 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 5676 (M.D. Fla. Mar. 14, 2003), Judge Lazzara

"Defendants point out that this Court in its March 12, 2003 Order recognized that the
expanded limitations period for private securities actions under Sarbanes-Oxley "does not apply to
Newby." Inre Enron Corp. Secs., No. H-01-3624, 2003 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 3786, at *49n.20 (S.D.
Tex. Mar. 12, 2003);Certain Defendants' Reply at 10. The Court is correct, the new Sarbanes-Oxley
statute of limitations does not apply to Newby. This is because Newby was commenced before the
enactment of Sarbanes-Oxley. However, the Washington Complaint was commenced after the
enactment of Sarbanes-Oxley. Thus, the longer Sarbanes-Oxley statute of limitations applies to the
Washington Complaint. Plaintiffs Washington and Local 175/505 must not be punished because
their case was consolidated with Newby.



specifically held that "Congress intended to lengthen the statute of limitations to enable people
who lost their life-savings to companies like Enron to recover some of their investments. To do
so, the amendment must be given retroactive application." Id. at *9 (emphasis added). And in De
La Fuente v. DCI Telecomms., No. 01 Civ. 3365 (CM), 2003 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 3236, at *17
(S.D.N.Y. Mar. 4, 2003), the court, while not deciding whether the Sarbanes-Oxley Act applies
"retroactively,” stated "Congress's intent is clear — the statute of limitations established by the
Sarbanes-Oxley Act applies only to proceedings commenced on or after July 30, 2002."

In Roberts, the defendants asserted Sarbanes-Oxley does not apply to claims that have
extinguished or expired before Sarbanes-Oxley was passed on July 30, 2002. 2003 U.S. Dist. LEXIS
5676, at ¥5-*6. The court disagreed, stating that "[t]he effective date, which is July 30, 2002, hinges
on the date that 'proceedings' commence or commenced rather than on the date the violation
occurred.” /d. at *8. Accordingly, "[t]his language, standing alone, seems to presume that the Act
affords redress for violations that had already occurred before July 30, 2002." Id.* So too, this Court
should rely on the explicit language of the statute and apply the lengthier statute of limitations to the
Washington Complaint, commenced after the date of enactment of Sarbanes-Oxley. Thus, the Court
need only rely on the unambiguous language of Sarbanes-Oxley which makes clear its proper
application to the instant action.

2. The Legislative History of Sarbanes-Oxley Contradicts
Defendants' Interpretation of the Act

Even assuming, arguendo, that Sarbanes-Oxley was not clear and unambiguous on its face,
a careful review of the legislative history of Sarbanes-Oxley, particularly the Conference Report,
clearly indicates that Congress intended Sarbanes-Oxley to be applied to all private securities causes
of action filed after the date of enactment of Sarbanes-Oxley. The section of Sarbanes-Oxley at
issue, Title VIII, was authored by Senator Leahy, who intended the application of Sarbanes-Oxley

to all private securities actions be apparent from its face. Indeed, Senator Leahy's section-by-section

*See also Inre Initial Pub. Offering Sec. Litig.,241 F. Supp. 2d 281,294 n.4 (S.D.N.Y. 2003)
("One Plaintiff filed her action on December 6, 2002, see Muller v. Diversa Corp., No. 02 Civ. 9699,
taking advantage of the newly expanded statute of limitations for securities fraud actions
contained in the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.") (emphasis added).
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analysis of Title VIII is included in the Congressional Record of July 26, 2002, as part of the official
legislative history:

Section 804. — Statute of Limitations

This provision states that it is not meant to create any new private cause of action,

but only to govern all the already existing private causes of action under the

various federal securities laws that have been held to support private causes of

action. This provision is intended to lengthen any statute of limitations under federal

securities law, and to shorten none. The section, by its plain terms, applies to any

and all cases filed after the effective date of the Act, regardless of when the

underlying conduct occurred.
148 Cong. Rec. S7418 (daily ed. July 26, 2002) (emphasis added). "The phrase 'regardless of when
the underlying conduct occurred' demonstrates that Congress intended for the extended statute of
limitations to apply retroactively.” Roberts, 2003 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 5676, at *11. Furthermore, the
phrase this provision is meant "to govern all the already existing private causes of action under the
various federal securities laws that have been held to support private causes of action" demonstrates
that Congress intended for the extended statute of limitations to apply to all federal securities laws,
including §§11 and 15 of the 1933 Act.?

Senator Leahy extensively addressed the intent and the applicability of Title VIII on July 10,
2002, just 16 days prior to its passage as a component of Sarbanes-Oxley. And there it was clear that
Title VIII of Sarbanes-Oxley was intended to provide an opportunity for victimized Enron investors
to seek redress. In fact, Title VIII of Sarbanes-Oxley was specifically intended for plaintiffs like

Washington, who lost millions, to use the new statute of limitations to bring their claims. As Senator

Leahy stated:

’In Gibbons, the court discussed Senator Leahy's section-by-section analysis of Sarbanes-
Oxley. "Courts frequently give substantial weight to a 'section-by-section analysis' in determining
legislative intent." 2003 Bankr. LEXIS 161, at *17 (emphasis added) (citing Garrett v. United
States, 471 U.S. 773 (1985); Philko Aviation, Inc. v. Shacket, 462 U.S. 406 (1983)). "Moreover, the
purpose of the section-by-section analysis was 'to provide guidance in the legal interpretation’ of
the Sarbanes-Oxley Act, and it was offered by Senator Leahy, the author of the Accountability Act
and Senate Judiciary Committee Chairman at the time of the enactment of the legislation." Id.
at *17-*18 (citing 148 Cong. Rec. S7418 (daily ed. July 26, 2002) (statement of Senator Leahy))
(emphasis added). Furthermore, the Gibbons court held, "[a] section-by-section analysis may not
be as persuasive if it was introduced after the enactment of the legislation. In this case, however,
the section-by-section analysis was offered into the Congressional Record as legislative history
contemporaneously with the passage of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, and without any objection."
Id. at *18 n.12 (emphasis added). Thus, Senator Leahy's section-by-section analysis of this section
of Sarbanes-Oxley must be given substantial weight.

7



When I look at places such as Washington State alone where the pension
funds of firefighters and police lost $50 million because of the fraud on the leaders
of Enron, 1 don't feel too sympathetic. We already have a very short statute of
limitations in here anyway. We ought to at least have that so people might be able
to recover some of the money they have lost, if it is at all possible, instead of just a
few executives going up and building their $50 million mansions and hiding it there.
There ought to be some way for the people who lost their pensions, lost their life
savings, to get it back.

* * *

Florida lost $335 million because of Enron; the University of California, $144
million — all the way down to Vermont; we lost millions of dollars. These are people
who would like, in these kinds of cases, at least to have a statute of limitations such

that we can go after them.

¥ % %k

1 am here to try and protect people and give them an opportunity — when there has

been such enormous fraud and all the pension funds have been lost, and all the people

who have lost their life savings — give them at least some chance to recover

something, especially as the executives of these companies walk off with tens of

millions of dollars. We go two-five instead of one-three.... That was negotiated and

voted on in the Judiciary Committee, and the final bill was passed unanimously.
148 Cong. Rec. S6524 (daily ed. July 10, 2002) (statement of Sen. Leahy) (emphasis added). Thus,
Title VIII of Sarbanes-Oxley was intended to apply to defrauded Enron investors, like Washington.
Indeed, "ft/he language referring to victims of Enron recovering damages indicates the intent to
retroactively apply the statute of limitations." Roberts, 2003 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 5676, at *11

(emphasis added).
Thus, it is clear from both the statutory language and legislative history that §804 of

Sarbanes-Oxley was intended to apply to the claims brought here by Washington.



Im. CONCLUSION

For the foregoing reasons, Lead Plaintiff respectfully requests that the Court enter an order

denying the Motion to Strike.
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IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
FOR THE SOUTHERN DISTRICT OF TEXAS
HOUSTON DIVISION

In re ENRON CORPORATION SECURITIES § Civil Action No. H-01-3624

LITIGATION § (Consolidated)
§
This Document Relates To: § CLASS ACTION

MARK NEWBY, et al., Individually and On
Behalf of All Others Similarly Situated,

Plaintiffs,
Vs.
ENRON CORP, et al,,

Defendants.
WASHINGTON STATE INVESTMENT
BOARD and EMPLOYER-TEAMSTERS
LOCAL NOS. 175 and 505 PENSION TRUST
FUND, On Behalf of Themselves and All
Others Similarly Situated,

Civil Action No. 02-3401

CLASS ACTION

Plaintiffs,
VS.
KENNETH L. LAY, et al,,

Defendants.

ORDER GRANTING LEAD PLAINTIFF’S MOTION FOR LEAVE TO FILE
A SUR-REPLY IN SUPPORT OF OPPOSITION TO MOTION TO STRIKE
THE WASHINGTON STATE INVESTMENT BOARD
CLASS ACTION COMPLAINT



Before the Court is Lead Plaintiff’'s Motion for Leave to File a Sur-Reply in Support of
Opposition to Certain Defendants’ Motion to Strike the Washington State Investment Class Action
Complaint. After considering the motion, any response, and the arguments of counsel, if any, the
Court finds that the motion should be GRANTED. 1t is therefore

ORDERED that Lead Plaintiff’s Motion for Leave to File a Sur-Reply in Support of

Opposition to Certain Defendants’ Motion to Strike the Washington State Investment Class Action

Complaint is GRANTED.

SIGNED this day of , 2003.

HONORABLE MELINDA HARMON
UNITED STATES DISTRICT JUDGE

00054453 1
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